MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CHESHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL/ METROPOLITAN BOROUGH OF WIRRAL JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE held on 21 January 2009 at Wallasey Town Hall, Wallasey

PRESENT:

Cheshire County Council

Councillor Mrs D H Flude (Chairman)
Councillor R D Andrews
Councillor D Newton
Councillor S Proctor

Wirral Metropolitan Borough Council

Councillor A Bridson
Councillor I Coates
Councillor D E Roberts
Councillor S Taylor
Councillor R Wilkins (substituting for Councillor P T C Reisdorf)

Also Present:

Mr F Cook

Apologies for Absence

Apologies for absence were received from Cheshire County Councillor A Richardson, Wirral Borough Councillor P T C Reisdorf and Mr M Kennedy.

1 PROCEDURAL MATTERS

RESOLVED: That:

- (a) the Minutes of the meeting of the Joint Committee held on 30 September 2008 be confirmed as a correct record; and
- (b) the general declaration of a personal interest by Councillor Mrs D H Flude on the grounds that she was a Member of the Alzheimer's Society and also was Treasurer of the Cheshire Learning Disability Advocacy Service be noted.

2 CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REPORT

The Committee considered a report from the Chief Executive of the Cheshire and Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust updating Members on the following matters:

- Healthcare Commission Annual Health Check 2008 the Trust had scored "excellent" for the quality of services and "good" for use of resources; the Committee would consider how it would contribute to the Health Check and comment on the Trust's performance later on in the meeting;
- Respite Services in Learning Disability Services the
 Committee at its previous meeting had been given full details of
 proposals to address current issues within respite care facilities
 for adults with learning disabilities in Central Cheshire. A
 commissioner-led review was currently underway of
 respite/short break beds but action was needed to address
 specific issues at units in Crook Lane and Primrose Avenue.
 The Trust had proposed to commissioners two options and had
 received confirmation from the Cheshire Executive
 Commissioning Group to pursue the option to close Primrose
 Avenue and establish a single service at Crook Lane, Winsford;
- Learning Disability Services Assessment and Treatment Unit progress update – a purpose built unit was to be provided on the Rosemount site at Macclesfield comprising twelve beds including ensuite rooms with eight beds commissioned by Central and Eastern Cheshire Primary Care Trust and four beds to be contracted separately. Preparatory work was underway to enable access to the site for contractors with anticipated completion of the build scheduled for September 2009 and occupation soon thereafter;
- Future developments for inpatient services in Central and Eastern Cheshire – the Trust was shortly to begin planning a new inpatient facility in Central and Eastern Cheshire; a review of facilities required and possible sites would shortly be undertaken with proposals developed for public consultation in Spring 2009;
- European Working Time Directive Members were advised of arrangements to be introduced from February 2009 to provide Liaison Services in the four Accident and Emergency Departments while ensuring that Doctors would not work an average of more than 48 hours a week in accordance with the European Working Time Directive;
- Crewe Resource Centre this Centre had been transferred to the Trust and this would enable a dedicated Mental Health Resource Centre to be created;
- "A Better Future in Mind": The Report of the North West Mental Health Commission the response of the NHS North West to the document "A Better Future in Mind" had been fully endorsed by the Trust. An NHS North West Mental Health Programme

Board had been established to oversee implementation of improvements by building on this report and also on "Healthier Horizons" which was a report from the next stage of Lord Darzi's review of the NHS. Ian Davidson, the Trust's Deputy Chief Executive, was involved in a number of groups that were helping to shape future mental health services.

RESOLVED: That

- (a) the update report from the Chief Executive of the Trust be noted;
- (b) the Trust be congratulated on the outcome of the 2008 Annual Health Check
- (c) if necessary, a special meeting of the Joint Committee be convened in the Spring to consider the consultation arrangements on proposals for new inpatient facilities in Central Cheshire
- (d) a report be submitted to a future meeting of the Joint Scrutiny Committee on the impact of proposals to be introduced so as to comply with the introduction of the European Working Time Directive
- (e) a Member of the North West Mental Health Commission be invited to a future meeting to brief on the findings/recommendations of the Commission; and further consideration be given as to how commissioning should be scrutinised.

3 VARIATIONS OR DEVELOPMENTS TO SERVICES – LEVEL 2 – TENDERING OF THE SUPPORTED HOUSING NETWORK

The Committee considered a report on changes to commissioning responsibility for the Supported Housing Network. The Network provided staff support to adults with Learning Disabilities living in their own homes in East and Central Cheshire. The homes were owned and managed by Housing Associations. The Trust provided housing related support but the provision of social care services within the NHS had been under consideration for some time and both Government policy and Healthcare Commission investigations had supported a role for Social Care to be commissioned by Local Authorities.

The PCT had therefore decided to tender the service and had invited tenders based on three separate locality based services. The tenders were for support services only so service users would retain their tenancies and the right to remain in their homes. Housing providers were fully engaged and TUPE would apply meaning the majority of staff would transfer to the new provider organisations. It was anticipated that impact on service users and relatives would be

minimal. A full consultation process was underway with the transfer of the service expected to be carried out in May 2009.

RESOLVED: That the proposals be welcomed and confirmed as a Level 2 change.

4 CHILD AND ADOLESCENT MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES (CAMHS) AND LEARNING DISABILITY DIVISION

The Committee received a presentation from Dr Andy Cotgrove on developments within the CAMH Service in relation to Tier 4 Services. Tier 4 Services were for children and young people with severe needs that traditionally required in-patient care. The CAMH Service covered Cheshire, Wirral, St Helens, Knowsley, Halton, Liverpool and Sefton.

The Royal College of Psychiatry recommended that for a population the size of Cheshire and Merseyside approximately 68-100 beds should be provided, however, there were 14 beds in Chester and 10 in Liverpool. Dr Cotgrove advised that there was now a move to provide more community based services which would require fewer in-patient beds.

The current Model of Care had two principles:

- Children and young people with opposing needs should not be treated together;
- The service should be offered with as few in-patient beds as possible by providing alternative services.

There was also a requirement under the Mental Health Act 2007 that young people under eighteen years of age should not be cared for within adult facilities.

The Committee was advised of funding issues that meant that anticipated funding to support revenue costs had been withdrawn, although capital funds were still available. This enabled the service to use a vacant ward – Maple Ward at Bowmere – to develop the acute part of the service with existing facilities (Pine Lodge, Chester) being used for planned care. The PCTs had agreed to provide funding on a cost per case basis rather than having a block contract. Although the CAMH Tier 4 Service would be on split sites there would be a shared senior staff team.

In the future it was hoped to develop an in-patient service for patients with a Learning Disability as there was no such service within the area.

Members of the Committee were then given the opportunity to ask questions or raise issues as follows:

- What links existed with Connexions Members were advised that the Pine Lodge unit at Chester had an education unit on site and children and young people who accessed Tier 4 services would usually have been referred from Tier 3 and would therefore be known to Connexions and other agencies as they would be involved in Tier 3 cases;
- As there were fewer beds than in other areas and the number of in-patient beds did not meet the Royal College of Psychiatry's recommendations this suggested that there were unmet needs in terms of in-patient care;
- What services were available on Wirral and what need existed?
 In response Dr Cotgrove explained that Wirral had average use of Tier 4 CAMH Services and the CAMH Services generally available there were considered among the best in the area;
- Concern was raised about the services available to treat drug and alcohol problems;
- Early intervention services were very important.

RESOLVED: That:

- (a) the current position be noted; and
- (b) an update be provided in approximately 18 months to the Joint Scrutiny Committee.

5 ANNUAL HEALTH CHECK

The Committee considered an oral update on its role in contributing to the Annual Health Check. The Committee noted that it would need to agree its response by the end of March 2009 in order for the Trust Board to incorporate it into its submission. Members agreed that its response should focus on patient experience, consultation and public health.

RESOLVED: That the Committee's response to the Trust's Annual Health Check be delegated to the Chairman and Vice Chairman of the Committee with the focus being on patient experience, consultation and public health.

6 FUTURE OF THE JOINT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

The Committee considered an oral update report outlining the future of the Joint Scrutiny Committee in the light of Local Government Reorganisation in Cheshire. This would mean that the statutory responsibility for health scrutiny would rest with Cheshire East Council and Cheshire West and Chester Council.

Members were advised that Cheshire East Council had endorsed the principle that Joint Scrutiny mechanisms should continue with Wirral MB Council and it was hoped that Cheshire West and Chester Council would also participate. Cheshire West and Chester Council had decided to have a health scrutiny Panel but Terms of Reference and an Induction Programme were still to be determined.

The Committee considered and endorsed proposed draft Terms of Reference for a continuing Joint Scrutiny Committee comprising six Members from each Council, with named deputies.

Avril Devaney, the Trust's Director of Nursing, Therapies and Patient Partnership, explained that the Trust valued the Joint Scrutiny Committee and strongly supported its continuation. It had an important role in ensuring parity of service across Cheshire and Wirral. It also enabled Mental Health issues to be given a profile. The Trust's Chief Executive would write to the Chief Executive of Cheshire West and Chester Council expressing these views.

RESOLVED: That the principle of continuing with Joint Scrutiny arrangements to oversee the work of the Cheshire & Wirral Partnership NHS Foundation Trust as outlined be supported, and the three constituent Authorities be recommended to effect the transition as smoothly as possible.

7 FUTURE MEETINGS

RESOLVED: That future meetings of the Committee be held in June (at a central venue in Chester) and the Autumn.